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A Building Record of Ley Hill House, Northfield, Birmingham
1.0 Summary

In March 2002, Birmingham University Field Archacology Unit undertook the recording
of Ley Hill House, Merrit's Hifl, Novthfield, Birmingham, for Birmingham City Council in
advance of demolition.  Documentary research was uwndertaken in addition (o «
photographic record and a wrilten description of the building. The house was the home
of the Adkins family, for whom it was buile circa 1877, und was larer owned by the
chocolate manufacturer Christian Kunzle. A lodge was added circa [900 and extro
accommodation in the form of a 'temporary bungalow' in 1903 designed by the
Birmingham architect W. De Lacy dherne. The property was acguired by Birmingham
City Council in 1939,

2.0 Introduction

In March 2002, Birmingham University [reld Archaeclogy Unit undertook the recording
of Ley Hill House, Merrits tlill, Northfield, Birmingham, for Birmingham City Council.
‘The house was the home of the Adking family. for whom it was built, and later belonged
to the chocolate manutacturer. Chrstian Kunzle, Documentary rescarch was undertaken
in addition 1o a photographic record and a written description of the building.

The project was carried out in accordance with a brief issued by Birmingham City
Council (Birmingham City Council 2002). and with the Code ot Conduct, standards and
appropniate guidelines and practices of the Institute of Field Archacologists (IFA 1999,
In addition. the work conformed to a methods statement prepared by Birmingham
Jmversity Field Archaeology Unit (BUFAL 2002).

3.0 Site Location

fey Hhll Tlouse is situated on the south side of Merrits Hill. Northlield, in south
Birmiingham at NGR SPOO380O7 (Iig.1).

4.0 Objcctives

The aim of the archaeological work was to provide a basic record of the building prior to
demolition, through a combination ol visual and photographic swvey. supplemented by
documentary research and building analysis.

3.0 Method

The  archagoviogieni  fevord  consisicd ol a0 visual  ispechon,  welibon ioles,  aud
documentary and cartographic research in the overabi development of the bullding.
Docwmentany records o the Central Libravy Archives and Local Studies departments
were comdred ) as well as the deeds Lept by Birmmgham Oy Counerl Pronerty Services.

A Tl photographic suevey was carried onr usine 353mm format black and white print



film. This was supplemented by colowr print photography For inclusion within this report,
and by selected colour transparancies lor presentation use. All photographs were clearly
labelted and numbered.

6.0 Historical Background

In 1840, the site on which Ley Hill House stands was part of a farge fleld described in the
tithe apportionment as 'Big Cumberflat' and as being under arable (Northfield Parish
Tithe Map). It formed part of the holding of John Green. tenant of nearby Ley Hill Farm,
and was owned by John Spiitle. An indenture of 23 October 1862, listed amongst the
deeds lor Ley Hill House (BCC. 6243}, between a John Spittle and [lenry Adkins,
probably concerned the purchase ol the land on which the house stands, for a serics of
subsequent refercnces m the deeds suggests that the Adkins family were the owners of
the Ley Hill estate from that time until 1918, It was almost certainly for them that the
house was built.

By 1877 (Robbins’ map of Northtield, Fig.2), an anonvimous square building, isolated in
the north-west corner of the lield, was occupying the position of the main apartments to
the existing house. In 1884, however, (Ordnance Survey 1™ edition, Fig.3), the house
appeared in its present form. annotated as 'Ley Hill'. and situated within a large wooded
garden cntered trom Merrit's Hill. There were no outbuildings within the immediate
grounds, but a little further to the west. on the opposite side of a lane that formed the
western boundary of the garden, and cntered separately from Merrit's 1ill, was a
reclangular enclosure with buildings defining the cast and west sides. It 1s possible that
these buildings represent the stables and coach house that must have existed to serve the
house,

By 1904 (Ordnance Survey 2" edition, Fig.4) the land to the south of the house had been
landscaped, and a lake created. and a lodge had been built at the entrance to the grounds
of Ley Hill TTouse. This lodge survived at least until 1957 when it was photographed.'
The photograph shows a brick building of circa 1900 displaying diminished echocs of
vernacular revival. The upper storey was decorated with applied timber raming. and the
lodge had steeply pitched plain tile rools. A pabled single storey porch on the east side
faced east towards the drive. The south and east sides were open but the north side was
closcd with a screen, consisting ol a fretted, diamond patterned vpper part, and a single-
panctled lower part. Towards the road (north) was a laree 2-storey gable, and to the nght
(westh of 1t a lateral external chimney stack.

On 23" March 1 ‘){)3 ey Hill House wuas taken on o fourteen yvear lease by Charles Henry
Palethorne Fsguire = An inventory was made ot the httmg:n_.a belonging to the owner,
Henry Adkins, i which a number of rooms were mentioned. These were the back hall
servanls’ hall, kichen, pantre o b, pantvy No 2, Lanory | eiiranee Badl bréakiast rol,
smoke room. drawing room, dinmy room, bedroom Nob, Bedroom NolZo dressing 1oom,
bedivom No 3, W O | bedroom Nod, small bedroom, store roorm. back landing. theec

"Warwickshire Photograghic Societs. Birmingham Foval Studies WE/NZ7 LIRS
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back bedrooms, courtyard, gardens and orchard, stable yard, carmage house, and saddle
To0m.

Palethorpe was not 10 make any structural alterations, but. owing o the house having
insufficient accommodation for his requirernents, was given permission to erect a two-
storey bungalow, This butlding, which was {o house a recreation rooin, billiard room, gun
room and sewing room,’ was designed by the Birnnngham architect W. De Lacy Aherne,
whose drawings show a substantial 2-storey lmber framed building with high roof,
attached to the south-west corner of Ley Hill House (13BP 1903). [t faced south towards
the garden, and had a balustraded verandah approached by a flight ot steps. There was a
large gabled projection on the right hand (east) side. This building appears on the third
edition of the Ordnance Survey map of 1916 (Fig.5). By this time too, a boat house had
been buill next 1o the lake, and the courtyard to the west had had buildings added to it

On 30 December 1918, the L.cy Hill estate changed hands when Henry Adkins, Esquire,
now of Little Birch, Herefordshire, sold it 1o Christian Kunzle, Chocolale Manufacturer,
of Broad Street, Birmingham for £8,600. The Kunzle family's interest in Ley Hill House
was short lived. for on 23 February 1939 Christian Kunzle sold the estate for £21,5000 1o
the City ol Birmingham to whom it still belongs.” An agreement of tenancy was drawn up
on the same day whereby Kunzle leased the property trom the City for a term of onc year
from 25 March 1939. The agreement was terminated on 25™ March 1940 by notice given
7" September 1939.°

The next recorded tenant was A iraining Corps 2016 (Weoley Castle} Squadron who
took out a lease on 23 August 1944 for an initial period ol six months, and thereafter on 2
quarlerty basis.” A plan accompanying this document shows that some of the buildings in
the stable vard were now garages, and that Palethorpe's 'temporary bungalow', though 1t
was still in existence when the fourth edition of the Ordnance Survey map was 1ssued in
1935 {F1g.6), was no longer extant.

Description

ey Hill House (Plate 1) is a large dwelling with stuccoed walls, incised to suggest ashlar
(Plate 2). and steeply pitched slate roots. U is aligned east-west, faces north, and
comprises @ main block to the east conlaining the principal apartments, and a service
wing 1o the west. Communication within the main bloch was originally centred on 4 large
entrance hall containing the principal staircase. At ground level this hall gave direct
access to the principal rooms, and (o the service wing, and. via the staircase, 1o the [irst
floor landing. The landing communicaied with the mamn bedrooms and the service wing.
At both praund and frst floor levels o coradoe extends throngh the enlire length of the

CBEF 0D letrer Tiomn W Ble Lacy Aherie, drchieut, o A W Uross, Dignesr aud Suevey s, KIng's
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service wing, the two being linked directly by a service stair on south side, This stair was
housed within a turret,

The two storey house has an frrepular entrance front, roughly eight window bays in
length, the roof fine being broken up towards the lefi hand (east) side by a scries of gables
with decorative barge boards and external king post trusses and pendants. it has plate
glass sash windows with horns (Plate 3). Two corrugated stucco bands (Plate 4) link the
heads of the ground floor windows and the sills of the first floor windows. The main
apariments arc to the left (east) and the service wing is to the right (west). The service
wing 1s plainer in character but differs from the main house in having segmental-headed
windows (Plate 5). To the rear, and standing high above the roof, is the pyramidal roof of
the three storey turrel that houses the service stair. The east and south elevations were lit
by a series of large bay windows,

The focus of the main [ront is the gabled entrance bay (Plate 6) towards the Ieft hand
(east) side of the elevation. At ground level it incorporates an elaborate porch of ornate
timber framing mn a (antastic Gothic style with hints of chinoiserie (Plate 7). Unusually, it
has two doorways: the main one to the right is set beneath 4 half hipped gable, which has
decorated barge boards contaiming [retted quatreloils in squares with raised borders (Plate
8). At the apex, fitted through one of the quatreloils is a bracket tor a lamp. Gables in &
simtlar style ornament the east and west ends of the porch. The main door is essentially
an etght-panclled structure onto which a large central diagonally placed square panel has
been superimposed. At the centre is a large brass door knob. The sccond doorway, 1o the
lelt {east). hag lost its vriginal door. Above the porch is a large tripartite window with
leaded lights.

Irierior

The main entrance 1o the ground floor 1s now through the left hand doorway. This gives
access to a porch with decorative tiled floor (Plate 9) and moulded dado rail to the left
hand side. This rail 1s now interrupted by a pancl containing a radiator. Ahead is an open
round-headed entrance arch leading io the hall. This s two stortes in height, and the
staircase and first tloor landing balustrade, both of which are now boxed 1n, onginally
extended respectively along its west and south sides. Four pendants are suspended [rom
the ceiling, and must be comected with the st floor landing. The main staircase can
now only be reached from the main doorway or from upstairs,

From the hall four original doorwavs lead respectively easl 1o the dining room, south to
the drawiag room (cast) and breakfast room (west), and west 1o the Service wing passage.
Ihe doorwayvs have moulded architraves with plamn stwops. and the same tvpe appears to
have been used throughout the buitding (Plate 10} Above the door 10 the service wing is
an overiipght contatning, leaded glasswors v a Horal dosign, The stamvase s o sirapii
fightt beading directdy trony the tront doorway . 1 retams g tew turned badusters i« mid-

seventeenth century sivic, and has firge nowels ot ground and bst Hoor level with
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The dining room occuplies the north-east corner ot the house, and way it by a large
square bay window that filled most of the east wall. This has a moulded Gmber surround
linked 1o a panelied dade which extends all around the room. The parels contain
diagonally placed slats. Although it has been cleverly inteprated with the window
surround thls dado does not seem to be original. Suspicions are aroused by the treatment
of 4 wide square headed opening that has been broken through the west wall om the
entrance hall. The dado continues across the northern side ol this opening, whereas on the
south side the dado rail of the hall is continued. In addition, there is now no fireplace in
this room, but originally one musl have been situated 1n the centre of the west wall, which
corresponds with the position of a chimney breast in the hall. The dado, however, covers
this place, and must have been wserted  after the fireplace went out of use. .-’\b{)w, the
dado the walls are divided into large plain panels ficlded by timber surrounds,

A large inserted opening in the south wall leads to the drawing room, a chamber of
similar proportions to the dining room. This room also contains a weoden panelled dado.,
the pancls being shightly recessed within moulded surrounds. Here again, the dado seems
o be an insertion. The fireplace must have been in the east wall where there 1 an external
chimney. but there 1s no break in the dado. The arrangement of the feature is irregular,
the pdnels being of at least three different sizes (11t square; Ht x 19497 It 1'% 14 27),
disposed asymmetrically

The upper wall 15 divided into panels with moulded plaster surrounds. These oo are
ieregular in their disposition. The original doorway trom the hall, in the north-westl corner
of the room. breaks into one of panels. and another panel Hts the area over the inserted
opening from the dining room. The room 1s Hit 1o the south by a large full height canted
bay window with seats around the side lights. A three tier sash window filts the central
light, allowing access to the garden.

In the west wall 1s an mserted six-panelled door with moulded architrave which now
leads into whal was probably the breakfust room. 1if by a full height canted bay window
with three tier sash in the centre. Around the south side ol the room is a Jacobean style
plaster tricze (Plate 12). depicting scrolis. flowers and cartouches. This room was entered
from the hall ‘There is no fireplace, but this must have been in the west wall where there
15 a chimney breast.

Two inserted doorways o the west now lead into what must have been the smoking room,
but 11 was oniginally entered Irom the passage m the service wing. This room has a
[udor-arched fireplace in the sowth wall (Plate 13} with panelled  spandreis.
‘Crossthwattes Palent No.2496" 15 embossed on the cast iron hood above the fire box. The
hood incarporstes sn ogec-arch which rermimates inoa flewr-de-1vs, Either side of the
fireplace 1v o tall sush window, and there v a moulded preture rail avound the room.

""" Phe service roums were sttuated on the north side ol a passageway leading trom the hall
10 doorway at the west end o the house. None of thern raaims any distingusshing
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First Flaor

I'vom the head of the main slair, a doorwdy on the west side led 1o the service wing, and 2
large scmi-circular arched opening on the east side, similar 1o the entrance {rom the porch
to the hall, gives access to the balustraded landing that overlooked the hall. From this
linding Joors opencd south and cast to the principal bedrooms situated over the ground
floor apartments. The largest is over the dining room and is entered independently from
the fanding. It retains a fireplace with marble surround (Plate 14) in the west wall. The
south doorway led to a lobby which then gave access to three smaller chambers, the
weslernmost of these had a [ireplace m the west wall, with marble surround, badly
damaged al the ume ol the survey. and 4 moulded plaster cornice. It was lit 1o the south
by a canted bay window.

As at ground level, the service wing contained a passageway. This gave access to a large
bedroom on the south side and to a number of small rooms, probably servants' rooms, on
the north side. The area bevond the service staircase was not accessible at the time of the
SUrVeY.

7.0 Discussion

The cartographic evidence suggests that when the parish was mapped in 1877, Ley 11l
House was under construction, the main apartments being the only part to have been
erected at that point. The service wing and ancillary buildings were vet to be started. This
seems (o pinpoint the date of the house [amly accurately to circa 1877, a date that 1s not
incompatible with the architectural evidence.
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